COMMONWEALTH OF MASSACHUSETTS
Middlesex, SS. ‘ Board of Registration in Medicine

Adjudicatory Case No. 2025-052

In the Matter of

STEVEN W, POWELL, M.D.

CONSENT ORDER

Pursuant to G.L. c. 30A, § 10, Steven W. Powell, M.D. (“Respondent”) and the Board of
Registration in Medicine (“Board”) (hereinafter referred to jointly as the “Parties™) agree that the
Board may issue this Consent Order to resolve the above-captioned adjudicatory proceeding.
The Parties further agree that this Consent Order will have all the force and effect of a Final
Decision within the meaning of 801 CMR 1.01(11)(d). The Respondent admits to the findings of
fact specified below and agrees that the Board may make the conclusions of law and impose the
sanction set forth below in resolution of investigative Docket No. 23-366.

Findings of Fact

!
1. The Respondent graduated from the Mercer University School of Medicine in

2005. He was licensed to practice medicine in Massachusetts under certificate number 266779
from 2017 until 2023, when his license lapsed due to non-renewal. He is Board-certified in
psychiatry and neurology.

2. The Respondent holds or held a license to practice in every state and the District

of Columbia (DC).
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3.

On April 24, 2023, the Respondent pleaded guilty to one count of Health Care

Fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1347 and 2, in the United States District Court for the District

Court of New Hampshire. A true and accurate copy of the Plea Agreement is attached hereto as

" Exhibit A and incorporated herein by reference.

4.

a. Inpleading guilty, the Respondent admitted that the government could prove that,

between December 2018 and February 2019, the Respondent (a) falsely stated
that he determined, through his assessment of the Medicare beneficiary, that a
particular course of treatment, including the prescription of durable medical
equipment such as braces, was appropriate and medically necessary; (b) falsely
attested that he was treating the Medicare beneficiary; (c) falsely attested that he
had a valid prescriber-patient relationship with the Medicare beneficiary; and (d)
concealed the fact that he never saw the beneficiaries face-to-face, and that he did

not have any communication with most of the beneficiaries.

. The Respondent submitted more than $1.9 million in false and fraudulent claims

to Medicare for durable medical equipment that was ineligible for Medicare
reimbursement; Medicare paid more than $760,000 on these claims.

Since the Respondent’s guilty plea, his medical licenses in the following states

have been surrendered, relinquished, suspended, or revoked: Alabama, Alaska, Arizona,

Colorado, DC, Georgia, Hawaii, Idaho, Illinois, Jowa, Kansas, Louisiana, Maine, Minnesota,

Missouri, Montana, Nebraska, Nevada, New Jersey, North Carolina, Ohio, Oklahoma,

Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, South Carolina, South Dakota, Tennessee, Texas, Utah, Vermont,

Virginia, Washington, West Virginia, Wyoming.
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5. On December 7, 2023, the Kansas Board of Healing Arts revoked the
Respondent’s medical license for violating Kan. Stat. Ann. 65-2836(c) (conviction of a felony).
A true and accurate copy of the Kansas Board Order is attached hereto as Exhibit 2 and
incorporated herein by reference.

6. On December 17, 2024, the Missouri Board of Registration for the Healing Arts
revoked the Respondent’s medical license for violating Rev. Stat. Mo. 334.100.2(2) (conviction
of a crime) and Rev. Stat. Mo. 334.100.2(8) (final disciplinary action in another state). A true
and accurate copy of the Missouri Board Order is attached hereto as Exhibit 3 and incorporated

herein by reference.

Conclusion of Law

A. The Respondent has violated 243 CMR 1.03(5)(a)7 in that he has been convicted

of a crime.

B. The Respondent has violated 243 CMR 1.03(5)()12 in that he has been disciplined
in another jurisdiction by the proper licensing authority for reasons substantially
the same as those set forth in G.L. ¢. 112, § 5 or 243 CMR 1.03(5), specifically:

1. The Respondent has violated 243 CMR 1.03(5)(a)7 in that he has been
convicted of a crime.

C. The Respondent lacks good moral character and has engaged in conduct that

undermines the public confidence in the integrity of the medical profession. See
Levy v. Board of Registration in Medicine, 378 Mass. 519 (1979); Raymond v.

Board of Registration in Medicine, 387 Mass. 708 (1982).
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Sanction and Order

The Respondent’s inchoate right to renew his medical license is hereby REVOKED.
This sanction is imposed for each violation of law listed in the Conclusion of Law section and

not a combination of any or all of them.,

Execution of this Consent Order

Complaint Counsel and the Respondent, agree that the approval of this Consent Order is
left to the discretion of the Board. The signature of Complaint Counsel and the Respondent are
expressly conditioned on the Board accepting this Consent Order. If the Board rejects this
Consent Order in whole or in part, then the eﬁtire document shall be null and void; thereafter,
neither of the parties nor anyone else may rely on these stipulations in this proceeding.

As to any matter in this Consent Order left to the discretion of the Board, neither the
Respondent, nor anyone acting on his behalf, has received any promises or representations
regarding the same.

The Respondent waives any right of appeal that he may have resulting from the
Board’s acceptance of this Consent Order.

The Respondent shall provide a complete copy of this Consent Order with all exhibits
and attachments within ten (10) days by certified mail, return receipt requested, or by hand
delivery to the following designated entities: any in- or out-of-state hospital, nursing home,
clinic, other licensed facility, or municipal, state, or federal facility at which the Respondent
practices medicine; any in- or out-of-state health maintenance organization with whom the
Respondent has privileges or any other kind of association; any state agency, in- or out-of-state,
with which the Respondent has a provider contract; any in- or out-of-state medical employer,

whether or not the Respondent practices medicine there; the state licensing boards of all states in
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which the Respondent has any kind of license to practice medicine; the Drug Enforcement
Administration Boston Diversion Group; and the Massachusetts Department of Public Health
Drug Control Program. The Respondent shall also provide this notification to any such
designated entities with which the Respondent becomes associated in the year following the date
of imposition of this revocation. The Respondent is further directed to certify to the Board within
ten (10) days that the Respondent has complied with this directive.

The Board expressly reserves the authority to independently notify, at any time, any of

the entities designated above, or any other affected entity, of any action it has taken.

NN 1/ 13)2e25

Steven W Powell, MDY Date
Licensee

/”\/Mm W\Zto 'IZOZﬁ
[Rachel N. Shute;Esq. ' Date
Complaint Counsel

So ORDERED by the Board of Registration in Medicine this 4th day of December

Booker T. Bush, M.D.
Board Chair
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2023 APR 26 Pn3:59
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF NEW HAMPSHIRE

UNITED STATES OF AMERICA ; 93-cr-36-PB-01
v )
)
STEVEN POWELL )
)

PLEA AGREEMENT
Pursuant to Rule 11(c)(1)(B) of the Federal Rules of Criminal Procedure, the United
States of America by its attorney, Jane E. Young, United States Attorney for the District of New
Hampshire, and the defendant, Steven Powell, and the defendant’s attorneys, Michael Khour,
Esq., pro hac counsel, and Donald Kennedy, Esq., lacal counsel, enter into the following Plea
Agreement:
1. The Plea and The Offense.

The defendant agrees to plead guilty to Count Orne of the Information, charging him with
health care fraud, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1347.

In exchange for the defendant’s guilty plea, the United States agrees to the sentencing
stipulation(s) identified in Section 6 of this agreement.

2. The Statute and Elements of the Offense.

Title 18, United States Code, Section 1347 prohibits, in pertinent part:

Whoever knowingly and willfully executes, or attempts to execute, a
scheme or artifice to defraud any health care benefit program.

The defendant understands that the offense has the following elements, each of which the
United States would be required to prove beyond a reasonable doubt at trial:

First, a scheme, substantially as charged in the information, to defiaud a health care
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benefit program, to wit, Medicare;

Second, the defendant’s knowing and willful participation in this scheme with the intent
to defraud; and

Third, that the scheme was in connection with the delivery of, or payment for, health care
benefits, items, or services.

Pattern Criminal Jury Instructions for the District Courts of the First Circuit, § 4.18,1347
(2015), available at
https://www.cal.uscourts.gov/sites/cal/files/citations/Pattern%20Jury%20Instructions.pdf.

3. Offense Conduct.

The defendant stipulates and agrees that if this case proceeded to trial, the government
would introduce evidence of the following facts, which would prove the elements of the offense
beyond a reasonable doubt:

At all times relevant to the charged conduct, Steven Powell was a licensed medical doctor
and enrolled Medicare provider and was required to abide by all Medicare rules and regulations
and federal laws, including ﬁmt he would not knowingly present or cause to be presented a false

and fraudulent claim for payment by Medicare. Medicare was a federal health care program

providing benefits to persons who were 65 years of age or older or disabled. Medicare is a “health
care benefit program” of the United States as defined in 18 U.S.C. § 24. Furthermore, Medicare is
a health care benefit program affecting interstate commerce,

Medicare progtams covering different types of benefits were separatéd into different
program “parts.” “Part B” of Medicare covered, among other things, dutable medical equipment

(“DME”), including certain orthotic devices, such as knee, wrist, back, and shoulder braces

2.




e

g
[
-
—
1

Case 1:23-cr-00036-PB  Document 2 Filed 04/26/23 Page

(collectively, “braces”) that were medically necessary, Medicare prohibited the submission of
claims that were procured through the payment of illegal kickbacks and bribes.

' Company | was a Massachusetts company that operated as a purported telemedicine
staffing company that did business throughout the United States. In or around October 2017,
Powell became employed with Company 1.

Company 2 was a Florida company that operated as a purported telemedicine company that
did business throughout the United States, In or around December 2018, through an introduction
facilitated by employees of Company 1, Powell became employed with Company 2.

Powell accepted kickbacks from Company 1 in exchange for signing doctors’ orders that
were provided to him electronically via DocuSign, a service allowing individuals to electronically
sign documents, from Company 2 for medically unnecessary DME, including knee, wrist, back,
and shoulder braces. The doctors’ orders consisted of pre-filled, unsigned prescriptions for DME.
Ultimately, DME companies used the doctors’ orders electronically signed by Powell to submit
falge claims to Medicare for DMF that were (a) not medically necessacy; and (b) not eligible for
reimbursement from Medicare.

Powell signed the doctors® orders without a physical examination and without speaking to
the patients for whom he was prescribing DME, and regardless of medical necessity. Company 1
paid Powell approximately $15 per “consult” performed for Company 2, with the expectation that
a “consult” would result in a signed doctors’ order. A “consult” generally consisted of reviewing
the patient information provided to him electronically via DocuSign from Company 2. Most of the
time, Powell would electronically sign the doctors’ orders without even reviewing the patient

information.
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The doctors’ orders that Powell signed contained false statements, including that Powell
determined, through his assessment of the Medicare beneficiary, that a particular course of
treatment; including the prescription of braces, was appropriate and medically necessary, that he
was treating the Medicare beneficiary, had a valid prescriber-physician relationship with the
Medicare beneficiaries, when, in fact, Powell did not did not conduct any assessments of these
Medicare beneficiaries, the braces lacked medical necessity, and he did not have a valid prescriber-
physician relationship with the Medicare beneficiaries.

For example, on December 14, 2018, Powell received pre-filled, unsigned prescriptions via
DocuSign from Company 2 for a left knee brace, left suspension sleeve, right shoulder brace and
back brace for Medicare beneficiary J.K., a resident of Rhode Island. Without reviewing the orders,
Powell electronically signed the orders, and they were transmitted electronically to Company 2.
Powell was in the District of New Hampshire when he electronically signed the orders. Medicare
data reflects that on December 28, 2018, Powell was the referring provider on Medicare claim
number 118365725186001 for a left knee brace and suspension sleeve for J.K. Medicare was billed
approximately $1,173.27 in connection with that claim.

The doctors' orders that Powell electronically signed and returned to Company 2 were used
to fraudulently bill Medicare at least $1,908,702.65 for medically unnecessary DME. Medicare
paid DME providers approximately $761,202.75 in connection with those claims.

4. Penalties, Special Assessment and Restitution.

The defendant understands that the penalties for the offense are:
A. A maximum prison term of 10 years per count [18 U.S.C. § 1347];

B. A maximum fine of $250,000 or twice the pecuniary gain [18 U.S.C. § 3571];
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A maximum term of supervised release of three years per count [18 U.S.C.
§ 3583(b)(2)]. The defendant understands that the defendant’s failure to
comply with any of the conditions of supervised release may result in
revocation of supervised release, requiring the defendant to serve in prison
all or part of the term of supervised release, with no credit for time already
spent on supervised release; and

A mendatory special assessment of $100, at or before the time of sentencing [18
U.S.C. § 3013()(2)(A)}.

In addition to the other penalties provided by law, the Court may order the
defendant to pay restitution to the victim(s) of the offense (18 U.S.C. § 3663 or §
36634). '

To facilitate the payment and collection of any restitution that may be ordered, the
defendant agrees that, upon request, he will provide the United States with a
financial disclosure statement and supporting financial documentation.

The defendant further agrees that, if restitution is ordeted, it shall be due and
payable immediately after the judgment is entered and is subject to immediate
enforcement, in full, by the United States. If the Court imposes a schedule of
payments, the defendant agrees that the schedule of payments is a schedule of the
minimum payment due, and that the payment schedule does not prohibit or limit
the methods by which the United States may immediately enforce the judgment in
full, including, but not limited to, the Treasury Offset Program.,

5. Sentencing and Application of the Sentencing Guidelines.

The defendant understands that the Sentencing Reform Act of 1984 applies in this case

and that the Court is required to consider the United States Sentencing Guidelines ag advisory

guidelines, The defendant further understands that he has no right to withdraw from this Plea

Agreement if the applicable advisory guideline range or his sentence i3 other than he anticipated.

The defendant also understands that the United States and the United States Probation

Office shall:

Advise the Court of any additional, relevant facts that are presently known
or may subsequently come to their attention;

Respond to questions from the Court;

-5.
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C. Correct any inaccuracies in the pre-sentence report;

D.  Respond to any statements made by him or his counsel to a probation

officer or to the Court,

The defendant understands that the United States and the Probation Office may address

the Court with respect to an appropriate sentence to be imposed in this cage.

The defendant acknowledges that any estimate of the probable sentence or the probable
sentencing range under the advisory Sentencing Guidelines that he may have received from any

source is only a prediction and not a promise as to the actual sentencing range under the advisory

Sentencing Guidelines that the Court will adopt,

6. Sentencing Stipulations and Agreements.

Pursuant to Fed. R. Crim. 11(c)(1)(B), the United States and the defendant stipulate and

agree to the following:
(@)  The parties will recommend the following sentencing guideline
’ applications;
Base Offense Level 6 2B1.1(a)(2)

Loss Amount more than +16
$1.5M less than $3.5M

2BL1(®G)MA)

More than $1M loss to +2
Government health care

2B1.1(0XNB)()

program
Abuse of Trust +2 |3Bl.3
(b)  The parties agree that the loss amount under U.S.S.G. § 2B1.1is
$1,908,702.65. |
(¢)  The United States will recommend ﬁ.mt the defendant be sentenced to a

term of 46 months’ imprisonment, representing the low-end of the parties’
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agreed upon guidelines range;

(d)  The parties have agreed that the defendant shall pay restitution in the
amount of $761,202.75, payeble to the United States Department of
Health and Human Services.

The defendant understands that the Court is not bound by the foregoing agreements and,
with the aid of a pre-sentence report, the court will determine the facts relevant to sentencing.
The defendant also understands that if the Court does not accept any or all of those agreements,
such rejection by the Court will not be a basis for the defendant to withdraw his guilty plea.

The United States and the defendant are free to make recommendations with respect to
the texms of imprisonment, fines, conditions of probation or supervised release, and any other
penalties, requirements, and conditions of sentencing as each party may deem lawful and
appropriate, unless such recommendations are inconsistent with the terms of this Plea
Agreement,

7. Acceptance of Responsibility.

The United States agrees that it will not oppose an appropriate reduction in the |
defendant’s adjusted offense level, under the advisory Sentencing Guidelines, based upon the
defendant’s apparent prompt recognition and affirmative acceptance of personal responsibility
for the offense. The United States, however, may oppose any adjustment for acceptance of
responsibility if the defendant;

A.  Fails to admit a complete factual basis for the plea at the time he is
sentenced or at any other time;

B. Challenges the United States’ offer of proof at any time after the plea is
entered;
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L.

The defendant understands and agrees that he may not withdraw his guilty plea if, for any

of the reasons listed above, the United States does not recommend that he receive a reduction in

Denies involvement in the offense;

Gives conflicting statements about that involvement or is untruthful with
the Court, the United States or the Probation Office;

Fails to give complete and accurate information about his financial status
to the Probation Office;

Obstructs or attempts to obstruct justice, prior to sentencing;

Has engaged in conduct prior to signing this Plea Agreement which
reasonably could be viewed as obstruction or an attempt to obstruct
justice, and has failed to fully disclose such conduct to the United States
prior to signing this Plea Agreement;

Fails to appear in court as required;

After signing this Plea Agreement, engages in additional criminal conduct;
or

Attempts to withdraw his guilty plea.

his sentence for acceptance of responsibility.

The defendant also understands and agrees that the Court is not required to reduce the

offense level if it finds that he has not accepted responsibility.

If the defendant’s offense level is sixteen or greater, and he has assisted the United States
in the investigation or prosecution of his own misconduct by timely notifying the United States
of his intention to enter a plea of guilty, thereby permitting the United States to avoid preparing
for trial and permitting the United States and the Court to allocate their resources efficiently, the

United States will move, at or before sentencing, to decrease the defendant’s base offense level

by an additional one level pursuant to U.S.S.G. § 3EL.1(b).

-8 -
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8. Waiver of Trial Rights and Consequences of Plea.

The defendant understands that he has the right to be represented by an attorney at every

stage of the proceeding and, if necessary, one will be appointed to represent him. The defendant

also understands that he has the right:

A,

U o w

To plead not guilty ot to maintain that plea if it has already been made;
To be tried by a jury and, at that trial, to the assistance of counsel;

To confiont and cross-examine witnesses;

Not to be compelled to provide testimony that may incriminate him; and

To compulsory process for the attendance of witnesses to testify in his
defense.

The defendant understands and agrees that by pleading guilty he waives and gives up the

foregoing rights and that upon the Court’s acceptance of his guilty plea, he will not be entitled to

a trial,

The defendant understands that if he pleads guilty, the Court may ask him questions

about the offense, and if he answers those questions falsely under oath, on the record, and in the

presence of counsel, his answers will be used against him in a prosecution for petjury or meking

false statements.

9. Acknowledgment of Guilt; Voluntariness of Plea.
The defendant understands and acknowledges that he:

A.

Is entering into this Plea Agreement and is pleading guilty freely and voluntarily because
he is guilty;

Is entering into this Plea Agreement without reliance upon any promise or benefit of any
kind except as set forth in this Plea Agreement or revealed to the Court;

Is entering into this Plea Agreement without threats, force, intimidation, ot coercion;

9.
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D.  Understands the nature of the offense to which he is pleading guilty,
including the penalties provided by law; and

E, Is completely satisfied with the representation and advice received from
his undersigned attorney.

10. Scope of Agreement.

The defendant acknowledges and understands that this Plea Agreement binds only the
undersigned parties and cannot bind any other non-party federal, state or local authority. The
defendant a]so\ acknowledges that no representations have been made to him about any civil or
administrative consequences that may result from his guilty plea. The defendant understands
such matters are solely within the discretion of the specific non-party government agency
involved. The defendant further acknowledges that this Plea Agreement has been reached
without regard to any civil tax matters that may be pending or which may arise involving the
defendant.

11. Collateral Consequences,

The defendant understands that as a consequence of his guilty plea he will be adjudicated
guilty and may thereby be deprived of certain federal benefits and certain rights, such as the right
to vote, to hold public office, to serve on a jury, or to possess firearms,

The defendant wnderstands that, if he is not a citizen of the United States, his guilty plea
to the charged offense will likely result in him being subject to immigration proceedings and
removed from the United States by making hit deportable, excludable, or inadmissible. The
defendant also understands that if he is a naturalized citizen, his guilty plea may result in ending
his naturalization, which would likely subject him to immigtation proceedings and possible
removal from the United States. The defendant understands that the immigration consequences

- 10 -
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of this plea will be imposed in a separate proceeding before the immigration authorities. The
defendant wants and agrees to plead guilty to the charged offense regardless of any immigration
consequences of this plea, even if this plea will cause his removal from the United States. The
defendant understands that he is bound by his guilty plea regardless of any ixnmigration
consequences of the plea. Accordingly, the defendant waives any and all challenges to his guilty
plea and to his sentence based on any immigration consequences and agrees not to seek to
withdraw his guilty plea, or to file a direct appeal or any kind of collateral attack challenging his
guilty plea, conviction, or sentence, based on any immigration consequences of his guilty plea.
The defendant understands and acknowledges that as a result of this plea, the defendant
will be excluded from Medicare, Medicaid, and all Federal health care programs. The defendant
agrees to complete and execute all necessary documents provided by any department or agency
of the federal government, including but not limited to the United States Department of Health A
and Human Services, to effectuate this exclusion within 60 days of receiving the documents,
This explusion will not affect the defendant’s right to apply for and receive benefits as a
beneficiary under any Federal health care program, including Medicare and Medicaid,

12. Satisfaction of Federal Criminal Liabilitv: Breach.
The defendant’s guilty plea, if accepted by the Court, will satisfy his federal criminal

liability in the District of New Hampshire arising from his participation in the conduct that forms
the basis of the indictment in this case.

The defendant understands and agrees that, if after entering this Agreement, he fails
specifically to perform or fulfill completely each one of his obligations under this Agreement,

fails to appear for sentencing, or engages in any criminal activity prior to sentencing, he will
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have breached this Agreement.

If the United States, in its sole discretion, and acting in good faith, determines that the
defendant committed or attempted to commit any further crimes, failed to appear for sentencing,
or hag otherwise violated any provision of this Agreement, the United States will be released
from its obligations under this Agreement, including, but not limited to, any agreement it made
to dismiss charges, forbear prosecution of other crimes, or recommend a specific sentence or a
sentence within a specified range. The defendant also understands that he may not use his breach
of this Agreement as a reason to withdraw his guilty plea or as a basis to be released from his
guilty plea.

13. Waivers.

A. Appeal,

The defendant undetstands that he has the right to challenge his guilty plea and/or
sentence on direct appeal. By entering into this Plea Agreement the defendant knowingly and
voluntarily waives his right to challenge on direct appeal:

1, His guilty plea and any other aspect of his co;wiction, including, but not

limited to, adverse rulings on pretrial suppression motion(s) or any other
adverse disposition of pretrial motions or issues, or claims challenging the

constitutionality of the statute of conviction; and

2. The sentence imposed by the Court if it is within, or lower than, the
guideline range determined by the Court.,

The defendant’s waiver of his rights does not operate to waive an appeal based upon new
legal principles enunciated in Supreme Court or First Circuit case law after the date of this Plea
Agreement that have retroactive effect; or on the ground of ineffective assistance of counsel.

B. Collateral Review.

-12 -
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The defendant understands that he may have the right to challenge his guilty plea and/or
sentence on collateral review, e.g., a motion pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 2241 or 2255. By
entering into this Plea Agreement, the defendant knowingly and voluntarily waives his right to
collaterally challenge:

L. His guilty plea, except as provided below, and any other aspect of his

conviction, including, but not limited to, adverse rulings on pretrial
suppression motion(s) or any other adverse disposition of prefrial motions
or issues, or claims challenging the constitutionality of the statute of

conviction; and

2. The sentence imposed by the Court if it is within, or lower than, the
guideline range determined by the Court..

The defendant’s waiver of his right to collateral review does not operate to waive a
collateral challenge to his guilty plea on the ground that it was involuntary or unknowing, or on
the ground of ineffective assistance of counsel. The defendant’s waiver of his right to collateral
review also does not operate to waive a collateral challenge based on new legal principles
enunciated by in Supreme Court or First Circuit case law decided after the date of this Plea
Agreement that have retroactive effect.

C. Freedom of Information and Privacy Acts.

The defendant hereby waives all rigﬂts, whether asserted directly or through a
representative, to request or receive from any department or agency of the United States any
records pertaining to the investigation or prosecution of the case(s) underlying this Plea
Agreement, including without limitation any recotrds that may be sought under the Freedom of
Information Act, 5 U.S.C. §552, or the Privacy Act of 1974, 5 U.S.C. §522a.

D. Appeal by the Government.

Nothing in this Plea Agreement shall operate to waive the rights or obligations of the
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Government pursuant 18 U.S.C. § 3742(b) to pursue an appeai as authorized by law.

14. No Other Promises. |

The defendant acknowledges that no other promises, agreements, or conditions have been
entered into other than those set forth in this Plea Agreement or revealed to the Court, and none
will be entered into unless set forth in writing, signed by all parties, and submitted to the Court.

15. Final Binding Agreement,

None of the terms of this Plea Agreement shall be binding on the United States until this
Plea Agreement is signed by the defendant and the defendant’s attomey and until it is signed by
the United States Attorney for the District of New Hampshire, or an Assistant United States

Attorney.

16. Agreement Provisions Not Severable.

The United States and the defendant understand and agree that if any provision of this
Plea Agreement is deemed invalid or unenforceable, then the entire Plea Agreement is null and

void and no part of it may be enforced.

- 14 -
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The defendant, Steven Powell, certifies that he has read this 15-page Plea Agreement and
that he fully understands and accepts its terms.

4/ ’L’L/ R02%

Date:

Document 2

By
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JANE E. YOUNG
United States Attomey

. // ’//r—k/
ohKennedy
NI Bar No. 19557
Assistant United States Attorney
53 Pleasant St., 4th Floor
Concord, NH 03301
John.kennedy@usdoj.gov
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Steven Powell, Defendant

I have read and explained this 15-page Plea Agreement to the defendant, and he has
advised me that he understands and accepts its terms,

Date: '4[”7‘/ 2'7/1 12/02«3
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Michael Khouri, Esq.

Pro Hac Counsel for Steven Powell
Khouri Law Firm APC

101 Pacifica, Suite 380

Irvine, California 92618

71

Donald Kennedy, Esﬁ' F
Local Counsel for St efi Powell
Law Office of Donald Kennedy
908 Hanover Street #1
Manchester, NH 03104
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EFFECTIVE AS A FINAL ORDER 1
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DATE: IZ(07ZZUZZ NOV 1 8 2023

BEFORE THE BOARD OF HEALING ARTS KS State Board of Healing Arts
OF THE STATE OF KANSAS
In the Matter of ) , §
) KSBHA Docket No. 24-HADOD!
Steven W. Powell, ML.D. )
Kansas License No, 04-42782 )

SUMMARY ORDER

”~ "L'"
NOW ON THIS l ;:';f day of {\‘ﬂ/’ér'{ l;( 7, 2023, this matter comes before

Susan Gile, Executive Director, Kansas State Board of Healing Arts (“Board”), in summary
proceedings under K.S.A. 77-537.

Under X.S.A 77-537 and K.S.A. 77-542, this Summary Order shall become effective as a
Final Order, without further notice, if no written request for a hearing is made within 15 days of
service. Upon review of the agency record and being duly advised in the premises, the following
findings of fact, conclusions of law, and order are made for and on behalf of the Board:

Findings of Fact

1. Steven W. Powell, M.D. (“Licensee”) is or has been entitled to be engaged in the
practice of medicine and surgery in Kansas, having been granted an Active license on December
5, 2019. Licensee’s current license designation is Cancelled — Failure to Renew, having let his
license lapse on or about July 31, 2023.

2, Licensee’s last mailing address known to the Board is: CONFIDENTIAL
SABSE, . Licensee’s last email address known to the Board is

CONFIDENTIAL
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3, On April 26, 2023, an Information was filed in the United States District Court —
District of New Hampshire charging Licensee with one felony count of Health Care Fraud in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1347, in connéction with a scheme in which Licensee was paid to approve
false claims to Medicare for durable medical equipment. Per the Information, Medicare paid more
than $760,000 on these false claims. (Bd. Ex. 1 -~ Information).

4. On April 26, 2023, Licensee, via a Plea Agreement, entered a plea of guilty to one
count of Health Care Fraud in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1347, which is a felony. In the plea
agreement, Licensee agreed and stipulated that, if the matter had proceeded to trial, the United
States government had sufficient evidence to prove its case against him beyond a reasonable doubt.
(Bd. Ex, 2 — Plea Agreement).

5. On May 24, 2023, the trial court accepted Licensee’s guilty plea to one count of

felony Health Care Fraud. (Bd. Ex. 3 — Docket — Minute Entry, p. 2).

Applicable Law

6. Under K.S.A. 65-2836(c) of the Kansas Healing Arts Act (K.S.A.65-2801, ef
seq.):

“The board shall revoke a licensee's license following conviction of a felony or
substantially similar offense in another jurisdiction . . . unless a 2/3 majority of the
board members present and voting deterinine by clear and convincing evidence that
such licensee will not pose a threat to the public in such person's capacity as a
licensee and that such person has been sufficiently rehabilitated to warrant the
public trust.” [emphasis added]

7. Under K.S.A. 65-2836 of the Kansas Healing Arts Act:

“A licensee's license may be revoked, suspended or limited, or the licensee may be
publicly censured or placed under probationary conditions . . . upon a finding of the
existence of any of the following grounds:
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* X *

(aa) The licensee has knowingly submitted any misleading, deceptive, untrue or
fraudulent representation on a claim form, bill or statement.”
Conclusions of Law

8. The Board has jurisdiction over Licensee as well as the subject matter of this
proceeding, and such proceeding is held in the public interest.

9. The Board finds Licensee violated X.S.A. 65-2836(c) of the Kansas Healing Arts
Act, in that Licensee has been convicted of a felony in another jurisdiction.

10.  The Board further finds under K.S.A. 65-2836(c), no sufficient évidence has been
presented to establish both: (2) Licensee will not pose a threat to the public in such person’s
capacity as a licensee; and (b) Licensee has been sufficiently rehabilitated to warrant the public
trust.

11.  The Board finds Licensee violated K.S.A. 65-2836(aa) of the Kansas Healing Arts
Act, in that Licensee knowingly submitted any misleading, deceptive, untrue ot fraudulent
representation on a claim form, bill or statement.

12.  Based on the facts and circumstances set forth herein, the use of summary
proceedings in this matter is appropriate, in accordance with the provisions set forth in K.S.A. 77-
537(a), in th‘at the use of summary proceedings does not violate any provision of law and the
protection of the public interest does not require the Board to give notice and opportunity to

participate to non-parties.
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IT IS HEREBY ORDERED that Licensee’s license to practice medicine and surgery in
Kansas is REVOKED from the date this Order becomes offective as a Final Order.

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that upon becoming effective as a Final Order, this document
shall be deemed a public record and be reported to any reporting entities authorized to receive such

disclosure.

2 E=e
Dated this |7 day of MNU/dit bz’ 2023,

KANSAS STATE BOARD
OF HEALING ARTS

{ j:ié,tu

CLNas

Susan Gile
Executive Director
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FINAL ORDER NOTICE OF RIGHTS

PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that this is a Final Order. A Final Order is effective upon
setvice. A party to an agency proceeding may seek judicial review of a Final Order by filing a
petition in the District Court as authorized by K.S.A. 77-601, ef seq. Reconsideration of a Final
Order is not a prerequisite to judicial review. A petition for judicial review is not timely unless
filed within 30 days following service of the Final Order. A copy of any petition for judicial
review must be served upon Susan Gile, Executive Director, Kansas Board of Healing Arts, 800

SW Jackson, Lower Level-Suite A, Topeka, KS 66612,



CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

1, the undersigned, hereby cettify that I served a true and correct copy of the above and
foregoing FINAL ORDER by depositing the same in the United States Mail, postage prepaid. on
this '7*\— day of l l ¢ Mlzr2023, addressed and emailed to:

Steven W. Powell, M.D.

CONFIDENTIAL

And a copy was hand-delivered to:

Matthew Gaus, Deputy Litigation Counsel
Kansas State Board of Healing A1ts

800 SW Jackson, Lower Level-Suite A
Topeka, Kansas 66612

Licensing Administrator

Kansas State Board of Healing Arts
800 SW Jackson, Lower Level-Suite A
Topeka, Kansas 66612

Office of the General Counsel

Kansas State Board of Healing Arts
800 SW Jackson, Lower Level-Suite A
Topeka, Kansas 66612

And the original was filed with the office of the Executive Director.

o I N ; &
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BEFORE THE
BOARD OF REGISTRATION FOR THE HEALING ARTS
STATE OF MISSOURI |
[
MISSOURI STATE BOARD OF
REGISTRATION FOR THE HEALING ARTS

Peﬁtioner, Co B N R

V. PRSI A Case Number: 2023-003939, 2023-003941
: . 2023-004102, 2023-004282, 2023-005155,
2024-000145, 22024-000147, 2024-000395,
2024-000397, 2024-000423, 2024-000442,
2024-001580, 2024-002048, 2024-002052,
2024-002053, 2024-002054, 2024-002055,
2024-002321, 2024-002469, 2024-002728,

2024-002729

Steven W Poweill,' M'.D?.l';‘.f‘i L
Respondént.
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FINDINGS OF FACT, CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
AND ORDER OF REVOCATION IN DEFAULT

The Missouri State Board of Registration for the Healing Arts (“Board”), in accordance with the
law, and pursuant to properly served notice, took up this matter against Steven W. Powell, MD
(“Respondent”), at its regularly scheduled meeting on October 24, 2024, via WebEx and at 3550
Amazonas Drive, Jefferson City, Missouri 65109, for the purposes of determining whether Respondent's
physician and surgeon license is subject to discipline pursuant to section 334.103.1, RSMo:!

The members of the Board present for the hearing constituted a quorum under the law; only
those members of the Board, who were present, participated in the hearing, the deliberations, and any
votes concerning this matter. The Board was represented by Adam Grayson, Contract Counsel. David
A. Dykas, General Counsel, served as the Board’s legal advisor in this proceeding.

Respondent was not present at the hearing, nor was Respondent represented by legal
counsel at the hearing. Respondent did not respond to the Complaint filed on September 26,
2024, or to the Notice of:Institution of Disciplinary Case/Notice of Hearing mailed on October 3,
2024, |

During the hearing, the Board admitted into the record the Complaint and took official notice of

| L Al statutory references are to the 2023 Cumulative Supplement to the 2016 Revised Statutes of Missouri.
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the statutes and regulations referenced therein. The following exhibits were offered by Petitioner and
admitted into evidence: Exhibit 1, Notice of Intent to Use Affidavit, with the Affidavit of Kayci
Hollmgsworth establishing Respondent’s Ilcense mformat:on and address; Exhibit 2, Notice of Intent to
"'...Use Certified Records, with the certified- reoonds from the Umted States District Court of New“
S ‘Hampshire.in case 23-cr-36-PB-01; Exhibit 3, ‘certifiedlrec.ords from the Utah Department of Commerce
- i1/".= Division of Professional Licensing, with order revoking the Respondent's medical license; Exhibit 4,,
-~ certified fecords from the Kansas State Board of Heéling Arts with order revoking Respandent’s
medical license; Exhibit 5, fifty-two (52) pages of orders from other states’ medical boards disciplining
Respondent’s medical licenses; Exhibit 8, Notice of Intent to Use Business Records Puréuant to
Affidavit, with affidavit from Kayci Hollingsworth with one-hundred eighty-six (186) pages of business
records from the Missouri State Board of Registration for the Healing Arts, including a return of service
showing service upon the Respondent with the complaint, exhibits, and notice of this hearing.

. In reaching the decision stated in this Order, each member of the Board present at the
hearing read and considered the Complaint, and the attachments thereto, filed with the Board on
September 26, 2024. The Complaint alleged the Respondent entered a guilty plea in federal court
to a felony criminal charge of health care fraud, which is a crime involving fraud, dishonesty, and moral
turpitude, and is reasonably related to the duties and responsibilities of a physician and surgeon. The
Complaint alleged that based on the plea of guilty to health care fraud, multiple states took disciplinary
action against the Respondent’s license, including two states revoking the Respondent’s license.
The Complaint alleged that the Respondent license is subject to automatic revocation because of
th’e:pleé‘ of guilty to the felony criminal charge and thé revocation of the Respondent’s medical
Iicénse by other states’ licensing authority.

Being fully advised, the Board now enters its findings 6f fact, conclusions of law and disciplinary

order as set forth below.
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FINDINGS OF FACT
The Board is an agency of the State of Missouri; created and established pursuant to section
334.120, RSMo for the purpose of executing and enforcing the provisions of Chap'ger( 334, RSMo.
Respondent is licenseéd by the-Board as a Physician and Surgeon, Liéense...Nqﬁnbg‘r:‘.‘z_(i)gqg.,1,:0885,
which was first issued on-Aptil 14; 2020. Respondent’s Iicénse lapsed on January 312024
On or about April- 26,2023, .vl?‘e‘sp‘qndent entered a guilty plea in the_~ United'stgteg D,;i'svtlgiic‘t Court -
District of New Hém"pshire, Case No. 1:23-cr-00036-PB to one count of héalth "care' fraud ..i!" violation
of 18 U.S.C. § 1347.
The guilty plea was based on incidents that occurred beginningion or about December 2018, and
continuing through on or about February 2019, wherein Respondent, and another, accepted illicit
payments in exchange for electronically signing orders for durable medical equipment, including
knee, wrist, back, and shoulder braces that were not medically necessary and not legitimately
prescribed resulting in more than $1.9 million in false and fraudulent claims. As a result of these
false and fraudulent claims, Medicare paid more than $760,000.
The Respondent received pre-filled, unsigned prescriptions for a patient, a Medicare beneficiary, via
DocuSign from a company for a left knee brace, left suspension sleeve, right shoulder brace and
back brace. Without reviewing the orders, Respondent electronically signed the orders, and the
orders were returned and transmitted electronically to the company. Data from Medicare reflects that
the Respondent was the referring provider on said Medicare claim for a left knee brace and
suspension sleeve for the patient, and that Medicare was billed approximately $1,173.27 in
connection with the claim.
On December 18, 2023, the Ufa‘h‘ Division of Professional Licensing of the Department‘\of Commerce
entered a Default Order (“U’fah Revocation Order”) against the Respondent, which revoked the
Respondent’s Utah physician license and issued a fine of $1,000. The factual and legal basis for the
Utah Revocation Order was the:Respondent’s plea of guilty to the felony, federal criminal charge of

health care fraud.

NGS & ORDER Page 3 of 8
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8.'v The-doguments submitted:as Exhibit 5, establish that'the iIRespondent was publicly disciplined by

On November 13, 2023, the Kansas State Board of Healing Arts entered a Summary Order, a Final

Order (“Kansas Revocation Order”), against the Respondent, which ordered the Respondent’s

.- Kansas medical license to be revoked. The factual and legal basis for the Kansas Revocation Order

#»Wasthe Respondent’s plea.of guilty to the felony, federal.¢riminial:charge of health care fraud.

' .. the Arizona Medical Board, Louisiana State Board of‘Medical: Examiners, West Virginia Board of

© Medicing, Commonwealth of Virginia Department of Health Professions, lllinois Department of

10.

1.

12.

13.

Financial and Professional Regulation, Alabama State Board of Medical Examiners, Wyoming Board
of Medicine, South Carolina Department of Labor, Licensing, and Regulations, Colorado Mecﬁioal
Board, Rhode Island Board of Medical Licensure and Discipline, and the Minnesota Board of Medical
Practice.

The Board finds that the offense of health care fraud, and the facts thereunder, to which the
Respondent entered a plea of guilty involves the qualifications, functions, or duties of any profession
licensed or regulated under this chapter, and is an offense involving fraud, dishonesty, or an act of
violence.

The Kansas Revocation Order and Utah Revocation Order constitute final and unconditional
discipline of Respondent’s license to practice his profession in another state upon grounds for which
revocation is authorized in Missouri.

The above referenced disciplinary actions qualify as final disciplinary action‘ taken against
Respondent’s license by another licensing authority.

The above constitutes cause to initiate a hearing and discipline Respondent’s license pursuant to
sections 334.102.7(1)(a), 334.102.7(1)(b), 334.103.1, 334.100.2(2), and 334.100.2(8),RSMo.

The Board finds a Complaint was filed in this matter on September 26, 2024, and that the Complaint

. ahd the Notice of Institution of Disciplinary Case / Notice of Hearing was properly mailed to the

‘Respondent on October 3, 2024, for the October 24, 2024, hearing, asirequired by sections 536.063

and 536.067, RSMo.

FINDINGS & ORDER Page 4 of 9
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14,

15.

16.

18.

The Board finds the Respondent has submitted no response and has stated no defense to the
allegations stated in the Complaint pending before the Board. The Board finds no evidence has been
offered constituting good cause for Respondent’s failure to respond.

‘The Board finds that ther'Respondent.was properly -served notice of this :hearing:and. has :not

- appeared at this hearing.» . 1 e SRR L E RN TIRI
+The Board finds a defaulf:decision, pursuant to sections 324.045 and 536:067 RSMo. is:required in

“this matter because.a contested case was correctly commenced, pursuant to section 536.063

RSMo., with the filing of the Complaint, a properly pleaded writing before the Board; notices were
provided to Respondent pursuant to sections 536.067 and 536.070, RSMo; and Respondent failed

to plead or otherwise respond to the allegations set forth in the Complaint.

. The Board finds the discipline imposed herein is necessary to protect the public.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW
The Board has jurisdiction to conduct a disciplinary hearing against Respondent pursuant to section
334.102.7(1), RSMo, which states:

334.102.7(1) The board may initiate a hearing before the board for discipline of any
licensee's license or certificate upon receipt of one of the following:

(a) Certified court records of a finding of guilt or plea of guilty or nolo contendere
in a criminal prosecution under the laws of any state or of the United States for any
offense involving the qualifications, functions, or duties of any profession licensed
or regulated under this chapter, for any offense involving fraud, dishonesty, or an
act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or not
sentence is imposed
(b) Evidence of final disciplinary action against the licensee's license, certification
or registration issued by any other state, by any other agency or entity of this staté '
or any other state or the United States or its territories, or any other country;
KxFRKAK
(2) The board shall provide the licensee not less than ten days notice of any hearing
held pursuant to chapter 536. S
o U okekdekekokd T
(3) Upon a finding that cause exists to discipline a licensee's license the board may
impose any discipline otherwise available when disciplining licensees of that same
profession.

KhwkREE
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19. The Board has cause to discipline the Respondent’s license pursuant to section 334.100 RSMo.,
which states:

334.100.2. The board may cause a complaint to be filed with the administrative hearing

‘.CommISSIOn as provided by chapter 621 against any holder of any certificate of registration or

. autharity,permit or license required by this chapter or,any.person who has failed to renew or

st hasssUrrendered the person's certificate of registration or authorlty, permit or hcense for any
" one-or any combination of the following causes: . SRREI ‘

FRERKEE L |

(2) The person has been fmally adjudmated and found gutlty, or entered a plea of gullty

-+ or nolo contendere, in a criminal prosecution Under the laws of any state or of the United
States, for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of any
profession licensed or regulated pursuant to this chapter, for any offense involving fraud,
dishonesty or an act of violence, or for any offense involving moral turpitude, whether or
not sentence is imposed;

wRRRKER

(8) Revocation, suspension, restriction, modification, limitation, reprimand, warning,
censure, probation or other final disciplinary action against the holder of or applicant for a
license or other right to practice any profession regulated by this chapter by another state,
territory, federal agency or country, whether or not voluntarily agreed to by the licensee or
applicant, including, but not limited to, the denial of licensure, surrender of the license,
allowing the license to expire or lapse, or discontinuing or limiting the practice of medicine
while subject to an investigation or while actually under investigation by any licensing
authority, medical facility, branch of the Armed Forces of the United States of America,
insurance company, court, agency of the state or federal government, or employer;

RkKRERK

20. Based on the above-referenced guilty plea entered by the Respondent in the United States District
Court, District of New Hampshire and the Disciplinary Action taken by other State Medical Boards,
the Board must revoke Respondent’s physician and surgeon license pursuant to section 334.103.1,
RSMo. which states:

. 334.103.1 A license issued under this chapter by the Missouri State Board of Registration
for the Healing Arts shall be automatically revoked at such time as the final trial
proceedmgs are concluded whereby a licensee has been adjud|cated and found guilty, or

_ has-entered a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, in a felony criminal prosecution under the

* laws of the state of Missouri, the laws of any other state, or the laws of the United States

_of America for any offense reasonably related to the qualifications, functions or duties of
their profession, or for any felony offense involving fraud, dishonesty or an act of violence,
‘or for. any felony offense involving moral turpitude, whether or.not sentence is imposed,
or, upon the final and unconditional revocation of the license to practice their profession
in another state or territory upon grounds for which revocation is authorized in this state
following a review of the record of the proceedings and upon a formal motion of the state
board of registration for the healing arts. The license of any such licensee shall be

FINDINGS & ORDER Page 6 of 9
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automatically reinstated if the conviction or the revocation is ultimately set aside upon final
appeal in any court of competent jurisdiction.

21. Respondent's failure to plead or otherwise defend against the Complaint filed in this matter requires

the Board to issue a default order wrthout further prooeedmgs pursuant to sectrons 324 04 "a

1 \ A v

nd‘r-"
536.067, RSMo:

324.045.1 Notwrthstandmg any provision of chapter 536 in any proceedmg initiated by
the division of professronal reglstratron or any board, committee, commission, or offroe
within. the division of professronal registration to determine the approprrate level ‘of
discipline or additional discipline, if any, against a licensee of the board, committee,
commission, or office within the division, if the licensee against whom the proceeding has
been initiated upon a properly pled writing filed to initiate the contested case and upon
proper notice :fails to plead or otherwise defend against the proceeding, the board,
commission, committee, or office within the division shall enter a default decision against
the licensee without further proceedings. The terms of the default decision shall not

- exceed the terms of discipline authorized by law for the division, board, commission, or
committee. The division, office, board, commission, or committee shall provide the
licensee notice of the default decision in writing.

KRRERRK

536.067(5) When a holder of a license, registration, permit, or certificate of authority
issued by the division of professional registration or a board, commission, or committee of
the division of professional registration against whom an affirmative decision is sought has
failed to plead or otherwise respond in the contested case and adequate notice has been
given under this section upon a properly pled writing filed to initiate the contested case
under this chapter, a default decision shall be entered against the holder of a license,
registration, permit, or certificate of authority without further proceedings. The default
decision shall grant such relief as requested by the division of professional registration,
board, committee, commission, or office in the writing initiating the contested case as
allowed by law. Upon motion stating facts constituting a meritorious defense and for good
cause shown, a default decision may be set aside. The motion shall be made within a
reasonable time, not to exceed thirty days after entry of the default decision. "Good
cause" includes a mistake or conduct that is not intentionally or recklessly designed to
impede the administrative process.

*kkkkkk

22. Inits deliberations regarding the period of time that the Respondent may not apply for reinstatement,

the Board considered section 334.100.5 RSMo., which states:

334.100.5 In any order of revo'c'zat'ionl, the b'oar‘d may provide that the person may not aﬁp;l'y ‘ B

for reinstatement of the person's license for a period of time ranging from two to seven o
years following the date of the order of revocation. All stay orders shall toll this time period.
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23.

24

25,

26.

27.

28.

effeotlve date of this Order of Revocatlon

ORDER OF REVOCATION
Upon the foregoing findings of fact and conclusions of law, it is the ORDER of the Missouri State

Board of. Reglstratlon for the Healing Arts that the physuolan and surgeon license issued to

.~..Respondent Ste\/en W. Powell, M.D., license number2020010885 IS hereby REVOKED.

!
BT
"

Respondent shall not apply for remstatement of his hoense for a perlod of seven (7) years _from the

K-
Ve

'Respon‘dent shall immediately cease practicing in the state bf'.l\lli's'sduri‘; and within fifteen (15) days

of the effective date of this Order; the Respondent shall return the issued pocket card and license to
the Board. |

If Respondent is licensed in other jurisdictions, he shall forward written notice of this disciplinary
action to the licensing authorities of those jurisdictions within thirty (30) days of the effective date of
this Oraer. Respondent shall submit a copy of the written notice to the Board contemporaneously
with sending it to the relevant licensing authority. If Respondent is not licensed in other jurisdictions,
the Respondent shall notify the Board of that fact, in writing, within thirty (30) days of the date of this
Order.

Respondent shall, within thirty (30) days of the effective date of this Order, forward written notice of
this disciplinary action to all employers, hospitals, nursing homes, out-patient centers, clinics andany
other facility where Respondent practices or has privileges. Respondent shall, contemporaneously
with the giving of such notice, submit a copy of the notice to the Board for verification by the Board

or its designated representative. If Respondent does not have an employer, staff privileges or

practice at any facility, the Respondent shall notify the Board of that fact, in writing, within thirty (30)

~days of the date of this Order.

Respondent shall, within thirty (30) days of the effective date of this Ordgr, forward written notice of
this disciplinary . action to any allied health care profe?ssiénals t;hat Respondent supervises.
Respondent shall, contemporaneously with the giving of such hotice, submitg copy of the notice to
the Board for verification by the Board or its designated represehfétive, If Respondent does not

supervise any allied health professionals, the Respondent shall notify the Board of that fact, in
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writing, within thirty (30) days of the date of this Order.
29. For purposes of this Order and unless otherwise specified herein, all reports, documentation,

evaluations, notices or other materials that Respondent is required to submit to the Board: shall.be o

forwarded to the Missouri State Bbard of* Reglstratlon for the Heahng Arts, Attentlon Enforcement ;';',;:,‘j,';'. g

P.O. Box4 Jefferson City, M!SSOUH 65102 R o ‘ P

- 30. Respondent is advised that -compliénce’:with‘:the terms of this Order and the di'_sbharge;;of?the- L

professional obligation to transfer.of all patients' care and records to other providers will be-assessed -«

by the Board for compliance with section 324.042, RSMo.

31. This document shall be maintained by the Board as an open and public record as provided in
Chapters 324, 334 and 610,RSMo, and the Board will report this action to the National Practitioner

Data Bank and the Federation of State Medical Boards.

SO ORDERED, EFFECTIVE THIS 477a DAY OF Jyzy77/70¢7 2024,

%/}//’(/4’/
James Leggett,Executive Director

Missouri State Board of Registration for the Healing Arts
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On December 4, 2025 in accordance with the Board’s authority and statutory mandate,
the Board voted to approve the Consent Order revoking Dr. Steven Powell’s inchoate right to
renew his license to practice medicine. Said sanction is imposed on Dr. Powell’s license under
certificate number 266779.

Board Members Voting Affirmatively

e Booker T. Bush, M.D., Physician Member, Chair

e Frank O’Donnell, Esq., Public Member, Vice Chair

e Sandeep Singh Jubbal, M.D., Physician Member, Secretary
e Yvonne Y. Cheung, MD, MPH, MBA, Physician Member
e Aviva Lee-Parritz, M.D., Physician Member

Board Members Voting to Oppose: None

Board Members Recused: None

Board Members Absent:

e Jason Qu, M.D., Physician Member

EFFECTIVE DATE OF ORDER

The Consent Order is effective as of December 4, 2025.

( 'ﬁ%\fﬂ
Date Issued: December 4, 2025 y -

George Zachos, Executive Director
Board of Registration in Medicine






